
UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.

18 U.S.C. j 1349
18 U.S.C. j 371
18 U.S.C. j 1956(h)
18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C)
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

EM ERSON PIRE JS
FLAVIO M EN DES G ON CALVES, and
JO SH UA DAW D NICH OLAS,

Defendants.

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENER AI, ALLEGATIONS

At a11 tim es relevant to this Indictment:

Relevant Entities

1. Empiresx, a/k/a EcEmpires Consulting Corp.,'' a/k/a GGEmpires X Corp.,'' was a

company registered in Florida in or arolmd early 2020. !r ;..E
mpiresx claim ed that it was operational

in five continents and more than fifty countries, to include physical offices in the United States,

Vietnnm, South Korea, Japan, and Brazil. Empiresx's listed address was located in Fort Myers,

Florida, and purportedly had its m ain office located in M iam i, Florida, within the Southem  District

of Florida.

2.

investment progrnm s through social m edia. According to its m arketing materials, prospective

Empiresx operated a cryptocurrency investment platform and touted its various
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investors would invest cryptocurrency into Empiresx and were later paid out rettzrns in the fonn

of cryptocurrency based on trading activity that Empiresx was puportedly conducting.

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission (&1SEC'') was an

independent agency of the executive branch of the United States government. The SEC was

responsible for enforcing federal securities laws and promulgating related rules and regulations.

4. The United States Commodity Fumres Trading Commission (EICFTC'') was an

independent agency of the executive branch of the United States government. The CFTC was

responsible for regulating the United States derivatives market.

5. The Urlited States National Futures Association (GCNFA'') was the industrywide,

self-regulatory orgnnization for the United States derivatives industly, and had authority to take

disciplinary actions against members that violated its rules.

The Commodity Exchange Act (1:CEA'') required cehain filnns and individuals that

conducted business in the derivatives industry to register with the CFTC. CFTC regulations also

required, with few exceptions, Clu c-registered firms to be members of the NFA.

Financial Institution 1 was a stockbroker that offered al'l electronic trading platform

for the trading of vmious financial assets.

8. Foreign Cryptocurrency Exchange 1 was a foreign cryptoclzrrency exchange based

in Singapore.

Relevant Individuals

Defendant EM ERSON PIRES was a citizen of Brazil and resided in Lee County,

Florida. PIRES was the Co-Fotmder, President, and registered ageni of Empiresx.

10. Defendant FLAVIO M ENDES G ONCAI,VES was a citizen of Brazil and Co-

Founder and Vice President of Empiresx.
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Defendants EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES

managed and controlled Empiresx, and directed its intemational network of affiliates, promoters,

and employees.

12.

disseminated marketing information via wire communications in the United States and globally to

Defendants EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES

the general public regarding Empiresx's vmious investment programs thzough their network of

promoters and affiliates.

Defendant JOSHUA DAW D NICHOLAS was aunited States citizen and resided

irl M artin County, Florida.NICHOLAS was the çll-lead Trader'' for Empiresx and was described

by PIRES and GONCALVES dtuing investor meetings as the reason for the company's purported

trading success.

14.

Financial Officer for Empiresx. Part of Employee 1's role was to facilitate payments to investors.

15. Victim J.N.G. was atrader at a multinational investment bnnk and financial services

Employee 1 was an individual who resided in Tampa, Florida, and was the Chief

company based in New York, New York. JOSH UA DAVID NICH OLAS m isused Victim

J.N.G.'S identity during an Empiresx investor m eeting.

Relevant Term .

A ûGsecurity'' included a wide range of investment vehicles, including llinvestment

contracts.'' Investment contracts were instnzm ents, schemes, or transactions through which a

person invested m oney in a comm on enterprise and reasonably expected profits or rettmls derived

from the entrepreneudal or managerial efforts of others. Federal 1aw required that an issuer of

securities register offers and sales of those seclzrities with the SEC when they offered and sold

securities to the public, absent certain specified exemptions.
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CTiat currency'' was a government-issued currency, such as the U.S. dollar, that is

not backed by a physical commodity, but rather the government that issued it.

lcczyptocttrrency'' was a digital currency in which transactions were verified and

records were maintained by a decentralized system using cryptography, rather than a centralized

authority such as a bank or government.Like traditional fiat currency, there were multiple types

of cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin (û%TC'') and Ethereum ((&ETH'').

19. The lçblockchain'' was a distributed public ledger that recorded incoming and

outgoing cryptocurrency transactions. The blockchain recorded, among other things, the date and

time of each cryptocurrency transaction, the tmique cryptocurrency addresses associated with the

transaction and the sending and receiving parties, and the amount of clyptocurrency transferred.

The blockchain, however, did not identify the parties that controlled the cryptocurrency addresses

involved in the transaction.

20. Cryptocurrency owners typically stored their cryptocurrency in digital ûlwallets,''

which were identified by unique electronic itaddresses.'' By maintaining multiple cryptocurrency

addresses and using foreign-based cryptocurrency exchanges, crim inals engaged in

cryptocurrency-based fraud could attempt to thwart 1aw enforcement's efforts to track the flow of

fraud proceeds and conceal the fraud by quickly transfening such proceeds in various amolmts

through multiple cryptocuzrency addresses and across multiple blockchains.

A Iûcluster'' referred to a collection of related cryptoctlrrency wallets or addresses

usually under the control of a single entity or affiliated individuals.

22. LcBlockchain analytics'' referred to the application of investigative tools and

techniques to the blockchain to trace and track cryptocurrency transactions.

A tctrading bot'' was a computer softwm'e progrnmm ed to trade a digital asset based
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on predetermined parameters.

COIJNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is hereby realleged and

incorporated by reference.

2. From in or arotmd early 2020, and continuing through in or around the date of this

Indictment, in M inmi-Dade, M artin and Broward Counties, in the Southem District of Florida, and

elsewhere, the defendants,

E M  E R s o N 1: I ,ltE s
FluAvlo M lxoEs Goxcv vEs, and

Josu cA DAVID NlcH oluAs,

did willfully, that is, with the intent tofurther the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly

com bine, conspire, and agree with each other and with others known and unknown to the Grand

Jury, to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise a scheme and

artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means ofmaterially false and âaudulent

pretenses, representations, and prom ises, lcnowing such pretenses, representations, and promises

were false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice

to defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire commtmications

in interstate and foreign commerce, certain m itings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

Purpose of the Conspiracv

lt was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

unjustly endch themselves by: (a) inducing investors to invest in Empiresx tltrough materially .

false.pnd fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises regarding the use of investors' funds,

the technical abilities of Empiresx to generate profits through trading and investment activity

Case 1:22-cr-20296-JEM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/01/2022   Page 5 of 20



through apuported trading bot, and the rettmls that investors would earn on their investments; (b)

generating profits for themselves and paying eazlier investors with money from later investors', and

(c) concealing the misappropriation of investors' funds in cryptocurrency wallets and financial

accounts under their control for their own personal use and benefit.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

The mnnner and means by which the defendantsand their co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the purpose and object of the conspiracy included, but were not lirnited to, the

following:

Formation and M anaaement of Empiresx

or around early 2020, EM ERSON PIRES and FLAW O M ENDES

GONCAT,VES created Empiresx.

5. Empiresx, through its representatives, EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO

M ENDES GONCAI,VES, touted its various investment progrnms, to include its trading robot,

called the GIEX BOT,'' through social media, online video investor calls, and in-person meetings.

Empiresx commtmicated with investors and prospective investors through online platfonns and

applications such as Zoom, YouTube, Telegram, and Facebook. Empiresx conducted its business

principally by means of websites accessible at empiresx.org and wwmnewera.empiresx.com (the

çGEmpiresx Websites''). The Empiresx Websites were accessible worldwide to the public,

including to individuals within the Southez'n District of Flolida.

6. From the beginning, EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO M ENDES

GONCAT,VES aggressively marketed Empiresx to prospective investors as a lucrative

investm ent opporblnity. PIRES, GON CALVES, and JO SH UA DAVID NICH OLAS falsely

and fraudulently touted Empiresx's purported investment platform involving trading bots and

private investment as a simple, safe, and flexible choice to invest cryptocurrency and fiat currency.

EM ERSON PIRES, FLAVIO M ENDES GO NCALVES, and JOSHUA

DAVID NICHOLAS conducted multiple online and in-person investor m eetings, including in the

6
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Southern District of Florida, to promote Empiresx's investment programs, to include its

proprietaz'y trading bot called the EX BOT, as well as the purported rettu'ns that prospective

investors could eal.n from investing with Empiresx.

8. At those meetings, EM ERSON PIRES and FLAW O M ENDES

GONCAI,VES also recruited prom oters, lcnown as G<aft-iliates,'' to promote Empiresx arld its

investment progrnms through a multi-level marketing scheme, or lçpyrnmid scheme.'' As part of

the recruitment effol't, Empiresx relied on their affiliates to solicit new investors, and enticed them

with referral fees and participation in a tçcareer P1an,'' whereby they could eat'n additional prize

incentives ranging from smal't watches to ltlxtuy vehicles.

The EX BOT was a Porlzi Schem e

EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES G ONCALVES, and JOSHUA

DAVID NICHOLAS aggressively touted and fraudulently marketed Empiresx's purported

proprietary trading bot, the EX BOT, to prospective investors despite lcnowing that their

representations contained multiple false and fraudulent statements.

To persuade investors that their EX BOT was real and to invest in Empiresx,

EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES GONCAT,VES, and JO SH UA DAW D NICHOLAS

held regular investor calls using a video conferencing application, which was accessible to

prospective investors in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, and included ntlmerous

false and fraudulent misrepresentations regarding the EX BOT.

EM ERSON PIRES and FLAW O M ENDES GONCALVES fraudulently

represented that Empiresx would take the investors' cryptocurrency investm ent, convert the

cryptocurrency to fiat currency, and thereafter pool the investors' funds and execute trading in the

U.S. stock m arket using the EX BOT.

EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO M ENDES G ONCALVES also fraudulently

represented that the EX BOT utilized multiple inputs (e.g., htlman input f'rom defendant JOSHUA

DAVID NICHOLAS, the CGl-lead Traderr'' and 20 years of historical trading data) to employ

advanced strategies for m u im um performance and daily, reliable returns of up to 1% per day,
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which was converted back to and paid out in cryptocurrency.

To further entice investors to invest, Empiresx touted JOSHUA DAVID

NICHOLAS as a Glgenius'' trader and offered investors a separate investment option of having

NICHOLAS manually trade their cryptoc= ency investment in the U.S. financial markets.

14. As part of these marketing efforts, dlzring an investor call on or about July 2, 2021,

JOSHUA DAVID NICHOLAS fabricated his personal and professional background, including

by misrepresenting himself as Victim J.N.G. (who had no affiliation with Empiresx), and

concealing llis prior ban by the NFA for eight years for investment-related misconduct.

15. EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES GONCAT,VES, and JOSHUA

DAVID NICH OLAS also perfonned fictitious dem onstrations that purpoded to show the EX

BOT in action executing trades in the U.S. stock market. The false and fraudulent demonstrations

1ed investors to believe that the EX BOT was linked to atl Empiresx trading account with Financial

lnstitution 1, wllich was shown during these dem onstrations to contain m illions of U .S. dollars.

PIRES falsely represented that the trading account with Financial Institution 1 was one of

nllmerous Empiresx brokerage accotmts, each holding approximately $20 to $50 million.

16. To share in the purported investment profits generated from the EX BOT, investors

were required to open an Empiresx account and to purchase a license, either for $200 or $400, to

use the EX BOT software. Investors thereafter invested additional capital to be pooled and

invested using the EX BOT. M oreover, investors were required to ftmd a separate accotmt holding

çGcredits,'' which were described by EM ERSON PIRES as Gigasoline'' for the EX BOT. The EX

BOT would not run tmless the investor funded the credits accotmt.

17. Empiresx controlled and held investors' cryptocurrency wallets within its online

investm ent platform , known as the lcBack Office.'' Upon purchasing a license to the EX BOT,

Empiresx prom ised investors a daily return of up to 1% of the capital investm ent, to be distributed

autom atically to the investors' cryptocurrency wallets held on the Back Office.

Contrary to their representations regarding the EX BOT, EM ERSON PIRES,

FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES,and JOSH UA DAVID NICH OLAS did not employ a

8
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proprietary trading bot that could execute t'rades for investors and generate significant profits.

lnstead, the defendants operated a Ponzi scheme by paying earlier investors with money obtained

from later investors.

To disguise and conceal investors' funds, atld the fact that Empiresx was not

independently generating meaningful revenue through the EX BOT, EM ERSON PIRES and

FLAW O M ENDES GONCALVES latmdered investors' funds generated in the United States

and elsewhere through Empiresx's cluster of cryptocurrency wallets, Foreign Cryptocurrency

Exchange 1, and elsewhere.

20. EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES G ONCALVES, and JO SH UA

, #DAVID NICHOLAS also diverted investors ftmds to cover personal expenditures
, including

exotic vehicles, clothing from high-end retailers, and attorneys' fees.

False Statements Regarding SEC Registration

21. EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES G ONCALVES, and JOSHUA

DAVID NICHOLAS offered and sold the EX BOT as a series of transactions or schemes because

they promoted the EX BOT as an investment of money into a common enterprise with other

investors, with the reasonable expectation of profits 9om the efforts of Empiresx. The EX BOT

therefore qualified as a Elsecudty'' tmder the rules and regulations govelming the offer and sale of

securities in the United States and required registration with the SEC.

Despite representations to the contrary, EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES

GONCALVES, and JOSHUA DAW D NICHOLAS never registered, nor took steps to register,

Em piresx 's investm ent program involving the EX BOT as an offering and sale of sectlrities with

the SEC, nor did they have a valid exemption from this registration requirement,

Restrictions and Eventual Shutdown of Purported EX BOT Investm ent Returns

EM ERSON PIRES and FLAVIO M ENDES G ONCALVES also m isled

investors regarding investors' purported ability to withdraw their investments at a time of their

choosing. lnitially, investors were, in fact, able to withdraw their funds when they wanted.

However, as the Ponzi schem e grew and faced the prospect of collapsing, Em piresx added

9
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restrictions to investor withdrawals.

For example, in or around October 2021, Empiresx imposed restrictions to

withdrawals that effectively disincentivized investors from withdrawing their money.

EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES GONCALVES, and JOSHUA DAVID NICH OLAS

fraudulently claimed they had to make the new changes to comply with supposed SEC

requirements. Dtlring an investor call on or about October 11, 2021, PIRES told investors they

were allowed a maximllm of three capital withdrawals, and that they could withdraw profits less

frequently. PIRES also stated that capital withdrawals were subj/ect to large fees if withdraml

within the first three months after investing (e.g., a fee of 40% if withdrawn within the first 30

days).

Dlzring an investor call on or about October 21, 2021, in an effort to 1ul1 investors

into believing that Empiresx was still a sustainable investment opporttmity, FLAVIO M ENDES

GONCAT,VES falsely represented that Empiresx had paid out over $112 million to investors to

date, which included just the previous week more than 7,000 payments to ilwestors, totaling

approximately $ 12 million. Dtlring the call, Employee 1, Empiresx's CFO, fraudulently

confirmed the validity of these numbers.

26. By the fall of 2021, however, despite FLAW O M ENDES GONCAI,VES' claim

that Empiresx was still paying out returns, it began routinely preventing investors âom

withdrawing funds from their accotmts.

Since approximately November 2021, investors have been largely unable to

withdraw their funds f'rom Empiresx.

28. ln total, Empiresx fraudulently obtained approximately $100 million from victim

investors.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

10
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COUNT 2
Conspiracy to Com m it Securities Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is hereby realleged atld

incorporated by reference.

From in or around early 2020, and continuing through in and arotmd the date of tlais

Indictment, in M iami-Dade, M artin and Broward Counties, in the Southem District of Florida, and

elsewhere, the defendants,

E M  E R s o N P I ,1tE s
FtzAvlo M ExoEs G ox cu vEs, and

Josu l;A DAVID NlcllolwAs,

did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, and agree with each other and with others known

and llnknown to the Grand Jury to commit an offense against the United States, nnmely, sectlrities

fraud, that is, to knowingly and willfully use and employ one or more manipulative and deceptive

devices and contrivances contrary to Rule 10b-5 of the Rules and Regulations of the United States

Secmities and Exchange Commission, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5,

by: (i) employing devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) making one or more tmtnle

statem ents of m aterial fact and om it to state one or m ore m aterial facts necessaty in order to m ake

the statements made, in light of the circumstances tmder wllich they were made, not misleading;

and (iii) engaging in acts, practices, and courses of business which would and did operate as a

fraud and deceit upon one or more investors and potential investors in Erppiresx, in connection

with the purchase and sale of investm ents in the EX BOT, directly and indirectly, by use of m eans

and instrumentalities of interstate comm erce and the mails, in violation of Title 15, United States

Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5.

11
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Purpose of the Conspiracv

lt was a pupose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

unjustly erlrich themselves by: (a) inducing investors to invest with Empiresx through materially

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises as to the use of investment funds, the

ability of the EX BOT to generate profits through trading and investment activity utilizing a

proprietary trading bot, and the retum on investment on f'unds invested with Empiresx; (b) paying

earlier investors with money from later investors; and (c) concealing the misappropriation of

investor funds for their own personal use and benefit.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

The allegations contained in the M nnner and M eans section of Cotmt 1 are re-

alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a description of the manner

and means for this conspiracy.

Overt Acts

In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its purpose, the defendants, or one of

their co-conspirators, committed and caused to be committed in the Southem District of Flodda,

and elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts, among others:

1. In or arolm d 2020, defendants EM ERSON PIRES, FLAW O M ENDES

GONCALW S, and JOSHUA DAW D M CHOLAS offered and sold investment contzacts to the

public through Empiresx's offering of the EX BOT, to include investors in Miami, Florida.

On or about June 3, 2021, dlzring a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES pup orted to conduct a live

demonstration of the EX BOT trading software engaging Financial Institution 1. However, rather

than engaging with Financial Institution 1 during the demonstration, the EX BOT software

12
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engaged with a fictitious website that was designed to look like the website of Financial Institmion

1.

On or about Jtme 3, 2021, dtzring a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, EM ERSON PIRES represented to investors that they would receive a daily

return utilizing the EX BOT.

4. On or about July 2, 2021, dtlring a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, FLAW O M ENDES GONCALVES purported to conduct a live

demonstration of the EX BOT trading software engaging with Financial lnstitution 1. However,

rather than engaging with Financial Institution 1 during the demonstration, the EX BOT software

engaged with a fictitious website that was designed to look like the website of Financial lnstitution

1.

5. On or about July 2, 2021, during a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, JOSHUA DAVID NICHOLAS fabricated his personal and professional

background.

6. On or about October 1 1, 2021, during a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, EM ERSON PIRES and JOSHUA DAVID NICHOLAS claimed that

Empiresx had filed paperwork with the SEC.

On or about October 21, 2021, during a video conference call with investors and

prospective investors, FLAVIO M ENDES GONCAI,VES falsely represented that Empiresx had

paid out over $112 million to investors.

A 11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

13
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I coUNT 3I
Conspiracy to Com m it International M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is hereby realleged and

incorporated by reference.
E

From in or around early 2020, and continuing through in and arotmd the date of this

Indidment, in Miami-Dade Cotmty, in the Southern District of Flodda, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

EM ERSON PIRES and
FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES,

did knowingly and voluntazily combine, conspire, and agree with each other and with others

lcnown and llnknown to the Grand Jury, to transport, transmit, and transfer, and attempt to

transport, transmit, and transfer, monetary instruments and ftmds, from a place in the United States

to and through a place outside of the United States, knowing that the monetary instnlments and

f'unds involved in such actual and attempted transportation, transmission, and transfer represented

the proceeds of some form of tmlawful activity and knowing that such transportation, transmission,

and transfer was designed in whole or part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, solzrce,

om lership, and control of the proceeds of one or more specified llnlawful activities, in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(B)(i).

It is further alleged that the specifed tmlawful activity was wire fraud, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. jj 981 and 982)

1. The allegations of this Indictment arê hereby realleged . and by reference

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeitlzre to the United States of Am erica of certain

14
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property in which the defendants, EM ERSON PIRES, FLAVIO M ENDES GONCALVES, and

JOSHUA DAW D NICHOLAS, have an interest.

Upon conviction of a violation of a criminal conspiracy to violate Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1343, as alleged in this Indictment, the defendants shall forfeit to the United

States any property, real or personal, wllich constittztes or is derived from proceeds traceable to

such offense, ptlrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C).

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, as

alleged in this Indictment, the defendants shall forfeit to the United States any property, real or

personal, involved in such offense, and any property traceable to such property, ptlrsuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

15
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A11 ptzrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(C) and 982(a)(1), and the

procedures set forth at Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incop orated by Title 18,

United States Code, Section 982(b)(1) and by Title 28, Urlited States Code, Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BILL

O E S N

AJAN NTONIO NZALEZ
United States Att
Southem  District lorida

LORJN A 1. LM W EA
Acting hief
U.S. Departm ent of Justice
Fraud ection

F
KEV LOW ELL
S HAI,LM ARK
Trial Attom eys

YISE M DES
Assist t Urlited States Attorney
Southern District of Florida
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UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA CASE NO.:

CERTIFICA TE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY *

Superseding Case lnform ation:

New Defendantts) (Yes or No)
Number of New Defendants
Total number of New Counts

EM ERSON PIRES, et al.

/
Defendants.

Court Division (select one)
Z M iami L Key W est L FTP
E-I FTL IZI WPB

1 do hereby certify that:
1. I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of probable

wimesses and the legal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attached hereto.

I am aware that the information supylied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Coul't in setting
their calendars and scheduling crimlnal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, Title 28 U.S.C. j3161.

lnterpreter: t'Yes or No) NO
List language and/or dialect:

4. This case will take 10 days for the padies to try.

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:
(Check only one) (Check only one)
1 E.T 0 to 5 days E'1 Petty
11 Z 6 to 10 days I:I M inor
1ll E'!11 to 20 days E! M isdemeanor
IV 121 to 60 days Ig, Felony
V U61 days and over

Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
If yes, Judge Case No.

Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No
If yes, M agistrate Case No.
Does this case relate to a previously filed matter in this District Court? (Yes or No) Yes
lf yes, Judge Altonaga Case No. 22-CR-20173-CM A

9. Defendantts) in federal custody as of
l0. Defendantts) in state custody as of
1 1. Rule 20 from the District of
12. Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No
l3. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office

prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) No
14. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office

prior to October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss? (Yes or NolNo

By:
Yisel aides
Assi t nt United States Attorney
Court ID No. A 5502330
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UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLOW DA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: EM ERSON PIRES

Case No:

Colmt #1:

Conspiracy to Commit W ire Fraud

Title 18s United States Code. Section 1349
* M ax. Term  of Im prisonm ent: 20 years

* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or loss

Count # 2:

Conspiracv to Commit Sectuities Fraud

Title 18. United States Code, Section 371
* M ax. Term of Imprisonment: 5 years
* M andatory Min. Term of lmprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or loss

Count # 3 :

Conspiracv to Commit Jntem ational M oney Launderin:

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1956(h)
* M ax. Term  of Im prisonm ent: 20 years
* M andatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $500,000 or twice the value of the monetaly instrament or flmds

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: FLAVIO M ENDES GONCM VES

Case No: . .

Cotmt #1:

Conspiracy to Commit W ire Fraud

Title 18e United States Code- Section 1349
* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent: 20 years

* Mandatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or loss

Cotmt # 2:

Conspiracy to Commit Secudties Fraud

Title 18. United States Codes Section 371
* M ax. Term  of lm prisonm ent: 5 years
* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or loss

Cotmt # 3 :

Consniracy to Commit International M oney Latmderilm

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1956(h)
* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent: 20 years
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $500,000 or twice the value of the monetary instnlment or funds

)

SrRefers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and lines. It does not include
restitution, special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's N am e: JOSHUA DAVID NICHOLAS

Case N o:

Count //1 :

Conspizacy to Commit W ire Fraud

Title 18. Uzlited States Code. Section 1349
* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent: 20 years '

* M andatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gToss gain or loss

Cotmt # 2:

Conspiracv to Commit Sectlrities Fraud

Title 18. United States Code. Section 371
* M ax. Term of Im prisonm ent: 5 years
* M andatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable):
* M ax. Supervised Release: 3 years
* M ax. Fine: $250,000 or not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or loss

4

frRefers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and lines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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